FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/16/2022 3:52 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 10-11598

Court of Appeals No. 83280-8-I Clark County No. 17-1-00137-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff / Respondent,

٧.

MITCHELL HENG,

Defendant / Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION ONE,
AND
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
CLARK COUNTY

.....

PETITION FOR REVIEW (corrected)

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Petitioner

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 1037 Northeast 65th Street,# 176 Seattle, Washington 98115 (206) 782-3353

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Mitchell Heng, appellant below, petitions the Court to grant review of the published decision terminating review of Division One, in *State v. Heng*, __ Wn. App.2d __, 512 P.3d 942 (2022) (July 11, 2022). A copy is attached as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Right to counsel and "bail"
 - a) Is the preliminary appearance at which a financial condition of release ("bail") is set a "critical stage" of the criminal proceedings so the deprivation of counsel is structural constitutional error requiring reversal?
 - b) Should this Court grant review to resolve the conflict between Division One's holding that it is not a "critical stage," Division Two's published holding to the contrary in State v. Charlton, __ Wn. App.2d __, __ P.3d __ (2022 WL 3208773), and, to the extent it applies, Division Three's decision in In re Sanchez, 197 Wn. App. 686, 391 P.3d 517, review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1023 (2017)?
 - c) If deprivation of counsel at the hearing is not "structural" error, did Division One err in failing to apply the proper standards of "constitutional harmless error" and "prejudice?"
 - d) This Court amended CrR 3.2 in response to concerns about racism and unfairness in pretrial procedures, but trial courts have repeatedly failed to follow these newer provisions, including in this case.

Should this Court grant review to address these elusive ongoing, apparently systemic failures because of their significant public policy importance and disparate negative impact on the indigent accused?

e) In the alternative, was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to move for reconsideration of \$2 million "bail" improperly imposed on his client?

2. Double jeopardy and felony murder

- a) Did Division One apply an improper standard and misconstrue the narrow "independent effect" exception to "double jeopardy?"
- b) Should this Court clarify the holdings of State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 453 P.3d 696 (2019), cert. denied, __ U.S. __, 142 S. Ct. 726 (2021); State v. Muhammad, 194 Wn.2d 577, 451 P.3d 1060 (2019), and In re the Personal Restraint of Knight, 196 Wn.2d 330, 473 P.3d 663 (2020), about the proper application of the "independent effect" exception where there are separate convictions for felony murder and the predicate felony?
- 3. Is it an abuse of discretion under ER 702 for the trial court to allow "expert" testimony about a fire's origin when the expert admitted that she did not follow the standards and methods required in her industry?

C. OVERVIEW OF THE CASE

After fire mostly destroyed a convenience store, the body of Amy Hooser, an employee, was discovered in the

rubble. RP 464, 468, 748. Petitioner Mitchell Heng was arrested and charged with first-degree felony murder, first-degree robbery and first-degree arson. CP 46-47. He was acquitted of the robbery and of an aggravating factor for the murder but otherwise convicted as charged. CP 174-78.

Although he first denied involvement, Mr. Heng later expressed fear to officers about being a "snitch," saying police could not guarantee his safety or that of his family. RP 763. Ultimately, Mr. Heng admitted stealing cigarettes and lighting the fire, but said he had been threatened and ordered to do so by Ms. Hooser's drug dealer, "Zip," who had assaulted and murdered Ms. Hooser prior to the fire. RP 771-74, 1527-54.

Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed, and this Petition follows. App. A.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO ADDRESS WHETHER A PRETRIAL HEARING AT WHICH "BAIL" IS SET IS A CRITICAL STAGE FOR WHICH FAILURE TO PROVIDE COUNSEL IS STRUCTURAL CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR AND TO ENSURE THAT THIS COURT'S RULES ARE RESPECTED. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED ON WHEN SUCH CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR IS "HARMLESS."

Where the accused is deprived of counsel at a critical

stage of the criminal proceedings that constitutional error is considered "structural" and reversal is required. State v. Heddrick, 166 Wn.2d 898, 909-10, 215 P.3d 201 (2009); see also, Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685, 696 n. 3, 122 S. Ct. 1843, 162 L. Ed. 2d 914 (2002); Sixth Amend.; Art. 1, §22. This seemingly harsh result is required for structural errors, because it is nearly impossible to evaluate prejudice even though constitutional violations of the most serious kind have occurred. See United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. 140, 148, 128 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006) (depriving of choice of counsel structural error); see also, Hamilton v. *Alabama*, 368 U.S. 52, 55, 82 S. Ct. 157, 7 L.Ed. 2d (1931) (no counsel during arraignment structural error); see State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 14, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012) (violation of public court mandates structural error).

This Court should grant review, because Division One improperly held that the preliminary hearing at which "bail" is set is not a "critical stage of the proceedings" for which deprivation of counsel is structural constitutional error.

Further, the Court used the wrong standard when asking if the error was constitutionally "harmless." The published decision

both excuses serious violations of the right to counsel pretrial and encourages lower courts to continue to violate this Court's mandatory pretrial release rule.

At his first appearance after arrest, the judge told Mr.

Heng that he qualified for and would be given court appointed counsel. RP 6-7. Counsel, however, was not there. RP 7.

The prosecutor asked the court to impose \$2 million "bail" based on the nature of the charges and the belief that Mr. Heng had a "lack of ties to the community." RP 7-8. This belief was, in fact, mistaken. CP 3-4 (county "screening" document showing he had lived in the same place for three years with his brothers, had other family in the area, had no history of escape and no current warrants, and only one prior crime from years before). CP 3-4. Without discussion of any of those facts or Mr. Heng's financial situation, the judge imposed the \$2 million condition for Mr. Heng to secure his pretrial release. CP 3.

Later, appointed counsel never asked the court to reconsider. During the lengthy time that Mr. Heng was in custody pending trial, he made several phone calls the contents of which the State's attorney used repeatedly

against him at trial. RP 1104-20, 1518-55, 1750-51, 1752, 1772-76, 1783, 1792-95. Appointed counsel unsuccessfully objected. RP 395-314, 865, 1033, 1046, 1048, 1055-57, 1065.

In upholding the convictions, Division One first held that the pretrial hearing at which bail was set is not a "critical stage" of the proceedings for which the complete deprivation of counsel was structural error. App. A at 23. This published holding that the bail setting is not a "critical stage" is in contrast to the recent published decision of *Charlton*, *supra*, in which Division Two held to the contrary that bail setting *can* be such a stage, albeit while also finding deprivation of counsel there not "structural." *Charlton*, *supra*, slip op. at 14.

In reaching its conclusion that there was no error and no prejudice here Division One did not discuss any of the arguments, cases, or authorities cited by Mr. Heng showing that being kept in custody pretrial causes hardships and is recognized to affect the accused not only in preparing their defense but in other significant ways. App. A at 24-26; see BOA at 50-51. Nor did Division One apply any version of the standard for constitutional "harmless error" this Court adopted in *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182

(1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986).

Instead, the Court applied the burden to Mr. Heng and focused on whether counsel's absence at the pretrial hearing had some explicit effect on the later *trial*. App. A at 24-25. For this reasoning, it relied on *Sanchez*, *supra*, and *Satterwhite v*. *Texas*, 486 U.S. 249, 108 S. Ct. 1792, 100 L. Ed. 2d 284 (1988). App. A at 24.

There is no question that the Sixth Amendment used to be interpreted as providing for rights to counsel only in relation to a "fair trial," as in *Satterwhite*. That focus, however, has since been rejected. *See*, *e.g.*, *Lafler v. Cooper*, 566 U.S. 156, 164-65, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 182 L. Ed.2d 398 (2012).

Further, a structural constitutional error is an error in the framework of the proceedings themselves, which is why deprivation of counsel at a "critical stage" is "structural." *See Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. at 144-45. It is not possible to quantify the harm, such as when choice of counsel is deprived, but a real harm has occurred. *Id.* It is irrelevant whether the later trial is "not unfair;" the defendant was entitled to a particular guarantee of fairness and that guarantee was deprived. *Id.*

In *Gonzalez-Lopez*, it was the right to counsel of choice. Here, it was the right to have counsel provided when the weight of the state's resources have committed to prosecute and the government seeks to limit your physical and other freedoms despite the presumption of innocence pretrial. This Court should grant review and hold that the deprivation of counsel at arraignment where bail was set is structural constitutional error for which reversal is required.

"harmless error" standards apply, Division One's decision requires review. The burden was not on Mr. Heng, it was on the State. *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 425-26. The burden usually involves proving the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that every single reasonable juror who heard it would have convicted even absent the error. *Id.* That standard does not appear adequate for deprivation of counsel at a critical stage pretrial, because, again, it focuses on trial impact alone. But even so, its not a standard the State can meet here, given the emphasis the State placed on the jail calls below and the evidence that someone else could have been in the market at the time the fire started, as Mr. Heng claimed.

Division One also read *Sanchez* far too broadly in applying it here. In *Sanchez*, the accused was arraigned in a "group" proceeding but the only issue raised about the lack of counsel was that counsel would have objected to media photos if there. 197 Wn. App. at 690-91. Division Three broadly declared that arraignment was not a "critical stage." 197 Wn. App. at 689. Like *Satterwhite*, *Sanchez* focused on the *trial* implications of the lack of counsel. *Sanchez*, 197 Wn. App. at 702. *Sanchez* also applied a different standard of prejudice applicable on collateral (not direct) review. 197 Wn. App. at 703-704. Division One reads *Sanchez* far too broadly in applying it to the very different situation in this case. App. A at 27.¹

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3). There is a split in Divisions over whether the setting of financial conditions of pretrial release is a critical stage of criminal proceedings against the accused. To the extent that *Sanchez* was too broadly read to apply here, it, too, is in conflict with *Charlton*. Further, Division One erred in holding

¹A similar challenge regarding *Sanchez* is raised in a pending Petition for Review in *State v. Carmona-Cruz*, No. 10-0757-4.

that total deprivation at this crucial hearing was not structural constitutional error. Even then, Division One applied an incorrect standard of prejudice by looking only at the impact of the later trial and by failing to apply any version of this Court's constitutional harmless error standard from *Guloy*.

Requiring counsel to be present at such critical stages pretrial is not "mere formalism" but the recognition that the State has committed itself to prosecute and the accused is faced with prosecutorial force. *Rothgery v. Gillespie County, Tex.*, 554 U.S. 191, 198, 128 S. Ct. 2578, 171 L.Ed. 2d 366 (2008).

The deprivation of counsel pretrial is also in conflict with this Court's years of efforts to try to address the unfairness of means-based discrimination in pretrial release, as evidenced by the history of CrR 3.2. Here, in addition to violating the right to counsel, the lower court failed to follow any of the mandates of that rule. Division One refused to address these issues, pronouncing them instead "moot." App. A at 22. These issues are of substantial public importance, however, likely to evade review but repeat - as they have across the state.

Under CrR 3.2, there is a presumption of pretrial release without *no* conditions, on "personal recognizance." *Butler v.*

Kato, 137 Wn. App. 515, 521, 154 P.3d 259 (2007); State v. Ingram, 9 Wn. App. 2d 482, 491-92 (2019), review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1024 (2020); CrR 3.2(a). Conditions of release may only be set if the court finds that release without conditions will not reasonably assure the later appearance of the accused or would present a "likely danger" to the administration of justice. See State v. Huckins, 5 Wn. App. 2d 457, 465, 426 P.3d 797 (2018); CrR 3.2(a). The Rule also requires consideration of factors such as ties to the community, employment, nearby family, any history of committing crimes while on pretrial release, housing and criminal history. CrR 3.2(c) and (e). The nature of the crime is only one factor.

Even if the trial court finds that conditions of pretrial release must be set, CrR 3.2 limits the conditions which may be imposed. *Huckins*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 468. Only the "least restrictive" conditions are permitted as required to "reasonably assure that the accused will be present" or to address the safety concern. CrR 3.2(b) and (d); *see Huckins*, 5 Wn. App.2d at 467-68. Further, a financial condition of release "may be imposed *only if* no less restrictive condition or combination of conditions would reasonably assure" the safety or court

appearance goal. *Huckins*, 5 Wn. App.2d at 468-69; CrR 3.2(d)(6).

These mandates of CrR 3.2 were added by this Court in an effort to remedy racial and financial discrimination occurring in release decisions pretrial. *See In the Matter of the Adoption of the Amendments to CrR* 3.2, *CrR* 3.2.1, *CrRLJ* 3.2 and *CrRLJ* 3.2.1, Order No. 25700-A-721 (WSR 02-01-025) (Dec. 6, 2001); George Bridges, *A Study on Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Superior Court Bail and Pre-Trial Detention Practices in Washington*, Washington State Minority and Justice Commission (Oct. 1997).

Yet across the state - as here - trial courts are simply not following these provisions. *See Charlton, supra* (August 9, 2022) (Grays Harbor County), *State v. Powell*, 20 Wn. App.2d 1065 (2022) (unpublished) (Clark), *State v. Dixon*, 19 Wn. App.2d 1020 (2021) (unpublished) (Kitsap), *State v. Newman*, 17 Wn. App.2d 1038, *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1013 (2021) (unpublished) (Cowlitz), *Ingram*, *supra* (Clark); *State v. Garcia*,

²Available at

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/documents/laws/wsr/2002/02/02-01-025.htm.

³Available at

https://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/1997_ResearchStudy.pdf

15 Wn. App.2d 1044 (2020), review denied, 197 Wn.2d 1007 (2021) (unpublished) (Thurston); State v. Ewing, 13 Wn. App.2d 1023 (2020) (unpublished) (Pierce); State v. Comenout, Jr., 10 Wn. App.2d 1038 (2019), review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1003 (2020) (unpublished) (Pierce); State v. Cummings, 8 Wn.App.2d 1006 (2019) (unpublished) (Pierce); State v. Wilson, 8 Wn. App.2d 1005 (2019) (unpublished) (Lewis); Huckins, supra (Clallam); State v. Barnes, 4 Wn. App.2d 1079 (2018), review denied, 191 Wn.2d 1011 (2019) (unpublished) (Pierce). And the failures continue even after Division Two issued published decisions reminding counties of their duties. See Huckins, 5 Wn. App.2d at 457 (decided 9/25/2018); Ingram, 9 Wn. App.2d at 482 (decided 8/6/2019); Charlton, supra (arrest in December 2019).

The rule was violated here. There was no discussion of the presumption of pretrial release. RP 6-7. There was no mention of Mr. Heng's lack of significant criminal history, that he had lived with his brothers, that he had family in the area, his employment history, that he had no prior failures to appear, or any of the other required factors. RP 6-7. The State's primary basis for asking for \$2 million bail was "based upon the nature of the case, the charges and the facts and how it was

committed[.]" RP 7-8; see CP 3 (pretrial "screening" suggesting, "[d]eny release due to nature of charges"). CP 3.

There was no consideration of the CrR 3.2 factors or any less restrictive options prior to setting the \$2 million bail. RP 6-7. There was no compliance with this court's rule.

Notably, relying solely on the nature of the unproven charges not only violates the mandates of CrR 3.2, it also implicates the due process presumption of innocence. *See*, e.g., *Stack v. Boyle*, 342 U.S. 1, 6-7, 72 S. Ct. 1, 96 L. Ed. 2 (1951).

The proper interpretation and application of the rule is relevant to *all* criminal cases across the state and the declarations of the lower appellate courts have not sufficiently resolved the problem. This Court has recognized that "the issue of bail is one which will escape review" because of its very nature, and that "the proper form of bail is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest, overcoming any claim of mootness." *Westerman v. Cary*, 125 Wn.2d 277, 286-87, 892 P.2d 1067 (1994); *State v. Barton*, 181 Wn.2d 148, 152, 331 P.3d 50 (2014).

Further, the Court has recently renewed its concerns

about not only discrimination against those without resources pretrial but also about how our superior court's rulings on pretrial release are exacerbating racism and bias within our criminal justice systems. See Pretrial Reform Task Force: Final Recommendations Report (Feb. 2019) at 29.4 These failures implicate not only respect for the rule but the integrity of this Court and its ongoing commitment to fairness and equity for the accused.

In addition to granting review on the constitutional issues, this Court should grant review, should find the rule-based issues not "moot" and should address the ongoing failure of courts across the state to follow the mandates of CrR 3.2 and the resulting inequities those failures are causing the indigent accused.

2. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS WHETHER COUNSEL WAS PREJUDICIALLY INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO MOVE TO AMEND IMPROPERLY IMPOSED FINANCIAL CONDITIONS OF RELEASE

In the alternative, the Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because counsel's failure to move to amend the

⁴Available at

https://www.courts.wa.gov/subsite/mjc/PretrialReformTaskForceReport.pdf

improperly set financial condition for pretrial release was ineffective assistance. Both the state and federal constitutions provide the accused the right to the assistance of counsel at all "critical stages" of a criminal proceeding. *Heddrick*, 166 Wn.2d at 909; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); Sixth Amend.; Art. 1, § 22. After ruling that bail setting is *not* such a "critical stage," Division One here went on to declare that counsel's utter failure to move to reconsider the \$2 million bail set in his absence on an indigent accused was not "ineffective." App. A at 29-30.

This Court should grant review of this faulty holding.

Division One itself recognized that the trial court repeatedly indicated it would reconsider bail but found it "at least conceivable" that counsel "reasonably believed" the trial court would not rule in his client's favor had such a request actually been made. App. A at 29-30. This was apparently based on the conclusion that, had CrR 3.2 been properly applied, Mr. Heng would not likely have gotten a different result. App. A at 29-30.

This Court should grant review. Division One did not even discuss the requirements of CrR 3.2 before concluding that applying the rule would not likely cause a change. App. A

at 29-30. The Court did not address the presumption of release on personal recognizance, or the factors which should have been considered, or any of the requirements that trial courts must follow before imposing bail. App. A at 28-30. This Court should review this erroneous determination that no ineffective assistance occurred.

3. DIVISION ONE USED THE WRONG ANALYSIS IN DECIDING THERE WAS NO DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION AND THIS COURT SHOULD CLARIFY THE "INDEPENDENT EFFECT" EXCEPTION TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY IN FELONY MURDER CASES

This Court should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because Division One's published decision applied the wrong analysis in concluding that there was no violation of Mr. Heng's state and federal "double jeopardy" rights and those errors reflect confusion over this Court's holdings on when the "independent effect" exception applies.

Both the state and federal constitutions prohibit the government from subjecting a person to "double jeopardy." *In re the Personal Restraint of Francis*, 170 Wn.2d 517, 522 n. 1, 242 P.3d 866 (2010); *Whalen v. United States*, 445 U.S. 684, 688, 100 S. Ct. 1432, 63 L. Ed. 2d 715 (1980); Art. 1, § 9; Fifth Amend. Where the State charges different ways of committing the

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