FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/13/2023 4:18 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101159-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent v.
MITCHELL HENG, Appellant

FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II CAUSE NO. 83280-8 CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO. 17-1-00137-6

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (564) 397-2261

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

II. The decision of the Court of Appeals holding that, assuming error and that Heng's preliminary appearance was a critical stage requiring his counsel's presence, the constitutional harmless error standard applied

does not conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Heng argues that the decision of the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard of prejudice when it determined that any error in setting bail at the preliminary appearance in counsel's absence was harmless. PFR at 6-10. He seemingly argues that decision of the Court of Appeals to apply the constitutional harmless error standard rather than structural error is in conflict with *U.S. v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 128 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed. 2d 409 (2006). *Id*.

This claim is belied by cases from this Court describing what kind of errors are structural errors and the fact other cases in which there are errors involving counsel, e.g., the ineffective assistance of counsel, are not considered structural error. *State v. Frost*, 160 Wn.2d 765, 780, 161 P.3d 361 (2007). As a preliminary matter, however, the portion of the Court of Appeals decision discussing the standard of prejudice assuming error is dicta because it was unnecessary to Court's decision. *Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles*, 175

Wn.App. 201, 215, 304 P.3d 914 (2013) ("[a] statement is dicta when it is not necessary to the court's decision in a case").

Because the Court of Appeals concluded that no error occurred, there was no need to address prejudice. This Court should not grant review to address dicta.

In any event, even assuming error in counsel's absence from Heng's preliminary appearance, the Court of Appeals properly did not apply structural error. Structural errors are those that "deprive defendants of basic protections without which a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence." *In re Reyes*, 184 Wn.2d 340, 346, 358 P.3d 394 (2015) (quoting *Neder v. U.S.*, 527 U.S. 1, 8-9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999)). Said another way, an error is structural when "necessarily renders a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." *In re Meredith*, 191 Wn.2d 300, 309, 422 P.3d 458 (2018) (*quoting*

Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 218-19, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed. 2d 466 (2006)).

"Examples of structural error include improper courtroom closure, *complete lack of counsel*, and racial discrimination in grand jury selection." Id. (emphasis added) (citing cases). But not every error touching on those topics amounts to structural error. Accordingly, "constitutional harmless error analysis applies to the denial of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel" except where "the deprivation of the right to counsel affected—and contaminated—the entire criminal proceeding." *Sanchez*, 197 Wn.App. at 699-700 (quoting *Satterwhite v. Texas*, 486 U.S. 249, 257, 108 S.Ct. 1792, 100 L.Ed.2d 284 (1988)); *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 310-11, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991).

Gonzalez-Lopez does not require a different result. 548

U.S. 140. There, the Supreme Court of the United States held that the denial of Sixth Amendment right to counsel of choice amounted to structural error. But the reason for that was

because the denial of *counsel of choice* does contaminate the entire criminal proceeding since:

Different attorneys will pursue different strategies ... [a]nd the choice of attorney will affect whether and on what terms the defendant cooperates with the prosecution, plea bargains, or decides instead to go to trial. In light of these myriad aspects of representation, the erroneous denial of counsel bears directly on the framework within which the trial proceeds.

Frost, 160 Wn.2d at 780 (quoting Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 150). Counsel being absent from the first preliminary appearance of a defendant simply is not the same. Just as with cases of ineffective assistance of counsel and other discrete claims regarding counsel "this [C]ourt is as equipped to assess whether the trial court's" error "affected the outcome . . . as it is to conduct other harmless error analyses." Id. at 780-81; Gonzalez-Lopez, 548 U.S. at 150-51. Consequently, a constitutional harmless error analysis is appropriate here and is consistent with decisions of this Court, the United States Supreme Court, and the Court of Appeals. Sanchez, 197

Wn.App. at 699-700. Heng cannot establish that review of this issue is appropriate under the review criteria found in RAP 13.4(b)

III. Heng's CrR 3.2 argument does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution or an issue of substantial public importance.

Heng asks this Court to review his CrR 3.2 arguments and faults the decision of the Court of Appeals for finding them moot. PFR at 10-15. In support of his argument, Heng lists a number of cases in which he claims that courts are "simply not following" the requirements of CrR 3.2. PFR at 12.

But as the Court of Appeals recognized—aside from the fact that Heng did "not argue[2] that any exception to the mootness doctrine applies"—"recent published case law has provided guidance on the issues that Heng raises in this

² Heng also failed to address issue preservation under RAP 2.5(a)(3). No arguments regarding bail were made to trial court judge. Because the Court of Appeals decided the issue based on mootness, it did not address issue preservation. 22 Wn.App. at 739 n.14.

appeal." 22 Wn.App. at 739-740. That recent published case law, the decisions of the Courts of Appeals in *State v. Ingram* and *State v. Huckins*, both found exceptions to the mootness doctrine applied and addressed CrR 3.2 issues raised by the defendant. 9 Wn.App.2d 482, 490, 447 P.3d 192 (2019); 5 Wn.App.2d 457, 465-69, 426 P.3d 797 (2018). Notably these decisions were both published *after* Heng's first appearance, which took place on January 17, 2017. RP 6-9.

As a result, the CrR 3.2 issues raised by Heng do not currently involve a significant question of law under the Constitution or an issue of substantial public importance. This Court should decline review of this issue.

IV. The decision of the Court of Appeals holding that Heng's counsel was not ineffective for not asking the trial court to revisit bail does not satisfy any of the review criteria under RAP 13.4(b).

The decision of the Court of Appeals concluded that

Heng failed to establish the ineffective assistance of counsel

because he could not establish deficient performance when his

counsel did not ask the trial court to revisit bail or, assuming deficient performance, prejudice. 22 Wn.App. 744-45. Heng disagrees and argues that "[t]his Court should grant review of this faulty holding." PFR at 15-17. But other than a claim the decision of the Court of Appeals was wrong, and a citation to RAP 13.4(b)(3), Heng advances no real argument as to why this Court should accept review.

And given the overwhelming evidence of Heng's guilt, any argument that Heng was prejudiced because he could have possibly received a different bail determination falls woefully short of establishing the requisite prejudice—a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different." *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (quotation omitted). As the decision of the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, "any prejudice from the statements Heng made on those calls was the product of Heng's decision to make those statements despite warnings he was being recorded. That

prejudice cannot be laid at counsel's feet." 22 Wn.App. at 745. Accordingly, there is no basis by which this Court should accept review of Heng's claim to have received the ineffective assistance of counsel.

V. The decision of the Court of Appeals correctly followed and applied this Court's decision in State v. Arndt when it held that Heng's convictions for felony murder and arson did not violate double jeopardy under an "independent effects" analysis because the evidence presented by the State established that Heng's arson had victims in addition to Hooser, does not conflict with other decisions of this Court.

In this case, in addition to Murder in the First Degree,
Heng was convicted of Arson in the First Degree for knowingly
and maliciously causing a fire which was manifestly dangerous
to human life and knowingly and maliciously causing a fire in a
building in which there was at the time a human being, for
setting a fire in the building that contained the Sifton Market
and Amy Hooser, and the other businesses that called the strip
mall home and burned down—a barber shop, "Best Friend's
Grooming," and "Tails with Taylors." CP 46-47, 150, 177, 226;

RP 460, 465, 532, 1074, 1080-81, 1320, 1337-38, 1898-1900; Ex. 11, 26, 50, 86In *Arndt*, this Court held that the "independent or effect exception" to double jeopardy can apply to convictions for "aggravated first degree murder," aggravated by arson, and "first degree arson." 194 Wn.2d at 819-821. As this Court explained when considering the particular facts of that case:

Arndt was charged with aggravated first degree murder for the death of a single victim, Darcy Veeder Jr. In contrast, her conviction for first degree arson, in addition to resulting in the death of Veeder, also destroyed the O'Neils' home and was "manifestly dangerous" to the other occupants: O'Neil, Thomas, Kriefels, and the minor children. The presence of additional victims places this case inside the "independent effect" exception to the merger doctrine that allows for the imposition of separate punishments. For this reason, allowing both of Arndt's convictions to stand does not constitute a violation of double jeopardy.

Id. at 819 (internal citations omitted). But this Court also found "that in the consideration of these two crimes, an independent purpose exists on an abstract level that also

prevents the merger of the two offenses and allows for the imposition of multiple punishments" as "the two statutes in question are located in different chapters of the criminal code and are intended to protect different societal interests." *Id.* at 819-820.

There are no meaningful distinctions to be made between this case and *Arndt*. And despite Heng's claims to the contrary, this Court's decision in *State v. Muhammad*, 194 Wn.2d 577, 451 P.3d 1060 (2019) does not call into question the "independent effect" exception in the context of felony murder. Just a year later in *In re Knight*, 196 Wn.2d 330, 336-39, 473 P.3d 663 (2020), this Court cited Arndt with approval before determining that that defendant's convictions for felony murder and robbery "had 'independent effects' from each other and thus do not violate double jeopardy." 196 Wn.2d at 339. Plus, as the decision of the Court of Appeals in *Heng* held, "Muhammad is readily distinguishable on its facts" since "[i]n Muhammad, the rape that served as the predicate for felony

murder could have had only one victim—the same victim as the murder" whereas "[b]y contrast, arson by its nature can have an independent effect on multiple victims, and it plainly did here." 22 Wn.App. at 737 (internal citations and parentheticals omitted).

Moreover, Heng's contention that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of this Court because it "applied an improper abstract analysis" to find the "independent effects" exception applied rather than a fact-specific one is unfounded. PFR at 19, 21. For example, the State called Thomas³ and Steven Ranck, who owned the Sifton Market and the building that held the adjoining business, as witnesses and presented evidence of the destruction of the

_

³ "[State:] Do you remember the names or at least the types of the other businesses that were in the building?

[[]Thomas Ranck:] Yes, there was a barber shop in the unit next to the store called Betty's Barber -- Betty Barber and then there was a dog grooming place called Best Friends and then there was a pet supply place for just three or four months and I don't recall the name of that." RP 1074

Sifton Market and those businesses. RP 1071, 1093; Ex. 11, 23, 24, 26, 27, 50. That, in addition to Hooser, there were other, independent victims of Heng's arson would have been obvious to jury based on the facts and evidence presented at trial.

The decision of the Court of Appeals holding that this Court's decision in "Arndt controls" and applying Arndt to the facts of this case, and the relevant statutes in the exact same way that Arndt did, straightforwardly means the decision is not in conflict with the decisions of this Court. This Court should deny review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(1) as well as under Heng's proffered reason, RAP 13.4(b)(3), since a faithful application of the decisions of this Court does not create a "a significant question of law under the Constitution."

VI. The decision of the Court of Appeals holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion under ER 702 to allow certain testimony by a fire marshal fails to satisfy any of the review criteria under RAP 13.4(b).

Senior Deputy Fire Marshal Susan Anderson testified at length at Heng's trial regarding her investigation. *See* RP 522-

24, 972-1032. Amongst her testimony, she opined, over objection, that "a fire was probably ignited on [the victim's] body, clothing or near the body." RP 1012-13. Similarly, Assistant Fire Marshal Curtis Eavenson testified "that I would say that another ignition was at least attempted at" or near the location of the victim's body. RP 909-910. Heng did not object to Eavenson's testimony on this topic. Heng continues to claim that "Anderson admits to not following any of the requirements of her profession in reaching her conclusion" despite the fact that she made no such admission. ⁴ PFR at 22-23.

More importantly, the decision of the Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's opinions, including *Arndt*, to note

Anderson detailed her

⁴ Anderson detailed her qualifications, and her observations and investigation were discussed at length, including how she came to conclude that a "fire was probably ignited on [the victim's] body, clothing or near the body." RP 522-24, 972-1032. When Anderson was questioned by Heng, she admitted she did not do any forensic testing or take exemplars of clothing to test ignition levels. RP 998. This "admission" is not akin to admitting that she did not conduct her investigation in accordance with NFPA 921.

that though those cases affirmed trial court decisions to exclude specific scientific evidence because said decisions did not amount to an abuse of discretion, the cases did not hold "that it also would have been an abuse of discretion to admit the testimony and subject it to cross examination." 22 Wn.App.2d at 747. As the Court of Appeals concluded, "Anderson was undisputedly qualified as an expert by her training and experience as a fire marshal. The trial court was within its discretion to conclude that Anderson's testimony based on her training, experience, and observations of the scene would be helpful to the jury." Id. at 748. The determination of whether a trial court abused its discretion in admitting scientific evidence, especially in this context, is not an issue of substantial public importance warranting review.

Nonetheless, any error in admitting this evidence was harmless. In addition to the overwhelming evidence of Heng's guilt, the complained about evidence was of minor import since it was uncontested that Heng set the fire(s) that burned down

the Sifton Market. Heng admitted, and was caught on video, setting fire to the Sifton Market, and all of the fire experts, to include the defense expert, agreed that there was likely a second fire origin in the back portion of the deli area. Ex. 94, Ex. 106; RP 887-894, 905-08, 1011-12, 1509-1512. Far from being crucial evidence, Anderson's testimony on this issue was only briefly mentioned in the State's closing argument and the truth of the matter was not necessary to establish either of the crimes for which Heng was convicted. Any error in admitting said evidence was harmless. Consequently, this Court should decline review of this issue.

//

//

//

//

//

//

//

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Heng's motion for discretionary review.

This document contains 4,983 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.